IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

ELI ZABETH PI CHLER, et al. ) G VIL ACTI ON
V. :
UNI TE (UNI ON OF NEEDLETRADES,

| NDUSTRI AL & TEXTI LE EMPLOYEES
AFL-Cl O ) NO. 04-2841

MEMORANDUM

Dal zel I, J. Oct ober 17, 2006
Before us nowis plaintiffs' notion to anend the August
30, 2006 Judgnent (the "Judgnent"), and the parties' briefs on
this matter, filed pursuant to our Order of Septenber 20, 2006,
wherein we instructed themto address vari ous issues concerning

renedi es.

Backgr ound

On August 30, 2006, we held that UNI TE HERE (" UNI TE")
had violated the Driver's Privacy Protection Act of 1994 ("DPPA"
or the "Act"), and therefore granted judgnent in favor of the

nanmed plaintiffs and against UNITE as to liability. See Pichler

v. UNITE, -- F. Supp. 2d --, 2006 W. 2529688 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 30,
2006). We also certified the case for appeal pursuant to Fed. R
Civ. P. 54(b).* See id. at *14-15. In a letter subnmtted to the

! Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b) provides that "when
multiple parties are involved, the court nmay direct the entry of
a final judgnment as to one or nore but fewer than all of the .

parties only upon an express determnation that there is no
just reason for delay and upon an express direction for the entry
of judgnment." In our August 30 decision, we expressly found "no
just reason” to delay entry of judgnment in favor of the naned
plaintiffs and against UNITE. W also stated our reasons for
doing so, nanely that this class action presents novel questions



Court on Septenber 7, 2006, plaintiffs contend that under Sussex
Drug Products v. Kanasco, Ltd., 920 F.2d 1150 (3d G r. 1990), and

its progeny, the Judgnent is not "final" for purposes of a Rule
54(b) appeal because we have not yet resolved all of the renedial
issues as to the naned plaintiffs.

W notified the parties that we would treat plaintiffs
letter as a notion to anmend the Judgnent pursuant to Fed. R G v.
P. 59(e). See Order of Sept. 20, 2006 and attached Letter of
Sept. 7, 2006. To renpbve any uncertainty as to our Court of
Appeal s's jurisdiction over an appeal on the Judgnent in favor of
the named plaintiffs and against UNITE, we shall now resol ve the

open renedi al issues as they concern these plaintiffs.

1. Renedies
Plaintiffs seek three fornms of relief: statutory
damages, punitive damages, as well as an injunction. They also

ask that the Judgnent specify that they may file a request for

in need of appellate clarity before we begin the costly, conplex
and cunber some process of class-wide relief. See Carter v. Cty
of Philadel phia, 181 F.3d 339, 346 (3d Cr. 1999) (holding that
district courts should explain their reasons for certifying a

j udgnent for appeal under Rule 54(b), though failure to do so is
not a jurisdictional bar for the appellate court). O her

rel evant factors also weigh in favor of a Rule 54(b)
certification. See Allis-Chalners Corp. v. Phil adel phia Elec.
Co., 521 F.2d 360, 364 (3d Gr. 1975) (offering illustrative |ist
of factors court may consider). For instance, because the exact
si ze and nenbership of the class has yet to be determ ned, the
clainms of the named plaintiffs are readily separable fromthose
of the putative class nenbers. See id. Also, in any appeals
that may follow inposition of class-wide relief, the Court of
Appeals will not have to revisit the issues of first inpression
inthis Crcuit that it would resolve on a Rule 54(b) appeal now.
See id.




attorneys' fees and costs if they prevail after exhaustion of
appeal s. ?

The DPPA's renedies for civil actions are set forth in
18 U.S.C. 8§ 2724, which provides:

(a) Cause of action.--A person who know ngly
obt ai ns, di scl oses or uses personal
information, froma notor vehicle record, for
a purpose not permtted under this chapter
shall be liable to the individual to whomthe
informati on pertains, who may bring a civil
action in a United States district court.

(b) Renedies.--The court may award- -

(1) actual damages, but not |ess than

l'i qui dat ed danmages in the amount of $2,500;
(2) punitive damages upon proof of willful or
reckl ess disregard of the | aw,

(3) reasonabl e attorneys' fees and other
litigation costs reasonably incurred; and

(4) such other prelimnary and equitable
relief as the court determnes to be

appropri ate.

18 U.S.C. 8§ 2724 (enphasis added).
The plain | anguage of Section 2724 -- "the court may

award" -- | eaves no doubt that Congress gave district courts the

discretion to grant or deny each of the remedies. As the

El eventh G rcuit has expl ai ned:

[ T]he district court, in its discretion, nmay
fashion what it deens to be an appropriate
award. Anong the options for the district
court is the option to award "actual damages,
but not |ess than |iquidated danages in the
amount of $2,500." In fashioning an

2 W have already granted plaintiffs' unopposed request for
such timng for any bill of costs and application for attorneys'
fees. See Order of Sept. 20, 2006. To nake clear that we have
addressed all of the nanmed plaintiffs' requested forns of relief,
however, we shall anend the Judgnent to include this provision.
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appropriate award, the district court may

al so consider the other fornms of relief that
are avail able and were requested by [the
plaintiff] -- punitive danmages, reasonable
attorney's fees and costs, and the
destruction of all of [plaintiff's] personal
information illegally obtained from notor
vehi cl e records.

Kehoe v. Fidelity Federal Bank & Trust, 421 F.3d 1209, 1217 (11th

Cr. 2005), cert. denied, 126 S.C. 1612 (2006). W now consi der

the facts of this case in order to "fashion . . . an appropriate

award. "

A. Statut ory Damages

In the Judgnent, we awarded each naned plaintiff $2,500
in statutory damages, with the exception of Thomas Riley and Any
Riley, to whomwe granted a single statutory damages award of
$2, 500 because they are married co-owners of the vehicle whose
i cense plate UNI TE searched. ® The parties now contest how the
statutory damages are properly calculated. W first turn to
their argunents concerning the rel evance of a vehicle's title,
and then consider how statutory danmages shoul d be assessed for

each plaintiff.

1. Co-ownership of vehicles

The parties disagree as to whether joint owners of a

® Atenancy by the entireties "exists when property, either
real or personal, is held jointly by a husband and wife, with its
essential characteristic being that each spouse is seised of the
whol e or the entirety and not a divisible part thereof.”
dingerman v. Sadowski, 519 A 2d 378, 380 (Pa. 1986) (footnote
omtted).




vehicle are each entitled to a separate statutory damages award
of $2,500 or whether they nust share that award. This issue
affects four nanmed plaintiffs: husband and wife Thonas R | ey and
Any Riley who co-owned a car, and nother and son Hol |y Marston
and Seth Nye who co-owned a car. UN TE searched these jointly-
owned cars' license plates and thereby obtained the identities of
these four naned plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs argue that the DPPA's focus is protecting
privacy, not property, so co-ownership of vehicles is immteri al
for purposes of cal cul ati ng danages awards. Likew se, they
contend that the rel ati onshi p between any given co-owners is
irrelevant. |In particular, they assert that Thomas Riley and Any
Riley, who own their car as tenants by the entireties, each
enjoys a right to privacy of his or her "personal information."*
Plaintiffs note that nothing in the DPPA suggests that a
vehicle's co-ownership affects its owners' interest in

saf eguardi ng the confidentiality of their personal informtion.

In fact, the DPPA nakes violators liable "to the individual to

whom the information pertains.” 18 U S.C. §8 2724(a) (enphasis
added) .

* The DPPA defines "personal information" as:

information that identifies an individual, including an

i ndi vi dual ' s phot ograph, social security nunber, driver
identification nunber, nanme, address (but not the 5-digit
zip code), tel ephone nunber, and nedical or disability

i nformation, but does not include information on vehicul ar
accidents, driving violations, and driver's status.

18 U.S.C. § 2725(3).



UNI TE argues that Congress intended for co-owners of a
vehicle to share one statutory danages award. |n other words,
UNI TE contends that it should not have to pay nmultiple statutory
damages awards for a single "transaction." Regardless of whether
we agree with this position, UNITE asserts that we should
exerci se our discretion to decline to give multiple awards for a
transaction involving only one vehicle.

UNI TE al so contends that certain co-owners do not have
standing to sue under the DPPA. The DPPA authorizes civil
actions by an "individual" and, with respect to Thomas Ril ey and
Any Riley, UNITE contends that because the information in their
notor vehicle title pertains to an "entity," i.e. their tenancy
by the entireties, they are not "individuals" within the neaning
of the DPPA and therefore | ack standing to sue. For Seth Nye and
Holly Marston, UNITE states the record is unclear as to whether
they are joint tenants or tenants in common. UN TE contends that
this lack of evidence as to whether they own the car as an
"entity" or an "individual" neans that they cannot recover under
t he DPPA.

We have al ready expl ained what is necessary for
standi ng to sue under the DPPA:

The DPPA provides a private cause of action

to "the individual to whom [unlawfully

obt ai ned, disclosed, or used] information

pertains." See 18 U S.C. § 2724(a) (2005).

If the informati on does not "pertain” to an

i ndi vidual, then that individual rmay not sue

under the DPPA. In other words, the only

"interest" that the DPPA protects is an
individual's interest in the privacy of notor
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vehicl e records that include information
about her. If a notor vehicle record does
not include information about a person, then
t hat person has no "legally protected
interest” in the confidentiality of that

not or vehicle record.

Pichler v. UNITE, 228 F.R D. 230, 241 (E.D. Pa. 2005). Wen

UNI TE searched the |icense plates of the vehicle owned by Thonas
Riley and Ann Riley, and the vehicle owned by Holly Marston and
Seth Rye, it obtained information about each of these four
peopl e. Each of themhas an "interest"” in the privacy of the
not or vehicle record that included informati on about himor her,
so each one has standing to sue.

As to UNITE s argunment that each transaction only
nerits a single danmages award, nothing in the DPPA supports that
readi ng.®> Congress intended to protect the confidentiality of
people's identities and other personal information, and it
undoubt edl y knew when drafting the DPPA that sone vehicles are
co-owned. Nevertheless, it gave each "individual to whomthe
information pertains" the right to sue. Thus, an individual's
DPPA- protected interest in shielding her privacy is not diluted
because she co-owns a vehicle, and neither should her damages
award be.

In sum each person whose DPPA-protected interest UNITE

violated is entitled to sue individually for each of the renedies

® UNI TE conpares how courts have treated danmages issues
under the Truth in Lending Act ("TILA"), 15 U S.C. 1601 et seq.
See UNNITE's Mem 3-5. However, the analogy is not hel pful
because of material differences between the | anguage and purpose
of the DPPA and those of TILA



set forth in Section 2724(b). W shall therefore anend the
Judgnent to grant separate damages awards to Thonmas Ril ey and Any

Riley.

2. Calculation of statutory danmges

Plaintiffs do not seek actual damages, but they do ask
us to recal cul ate each award of |iquidated damages. They contend
t hat UNI TE shoul d pay $2,500 for each tine it "obtain[ed]" or
"use[d]" the personal information in violation of the DPPA. They
deem each hone visit and each mailing -- except for mailings done

in connection with the Veliz v. G ntas litigation, see Pichler v.

UNI TE, 2006 W. 2529688, at *11 -- a separate "use[]." Thus, if
UNI TE searched one's |license plate nunber to get one's nane and
address, then visited one at hone, and al so mailed one a union
newsl etter, plaintiffs contend that such a victimis entitled to
$7,500. O the nine naned plaintiffs, three claimthey suffered
two violations each and seek $5,000 per person, and six claim
they suffered three viol ations each and seek $7,500 per person.
UNI TE contends that plaintiffs' calcul ation of
statutory damages is contrary to the DPPA s | anguage and
Congressional intent, as well as the theory behind statutory
damages. According to UNITE, the statutory damages are offered
inlieu of all the actual damages that a plaintiff m ght prove
fromviolations of Section 2724(a). |In other words, if a

plaintiff cannot prove any danages -- even if UNITE visited her

and mailed her a letter after obtaining her nane and address --



she is entitled to $2,500, but not a multiple of that sum

UNI TE al so notes that in al nost every DPPA case where a
court finds liability, there will be an "obtain[ing]" violation
and at |east one "use[]" violation. Therefore, applying
plaintiffs' reasoning would effectively raise the statutory
danmages mninmumto $5,000 in al nbost every case.

Finally, UNITE argues that if Congress had intended to
provide a plaintiff with nmultiple awards of statutory damages
where she suffered nmultiple violations, it would have expressly
stated that, as it has done in other statutes. See UNITE s Mem
11 (citing seven statutory exanples, including 26 U S.C. § 7431
(c)(1)(A), which specifies "$1,000 for each act of unauthorized
i nspection or disclosure of a [tax] return").

Plaintiffs are correct that under the DPPA each
i nstance of "obtain[ing]" or "use[]" constitutes a violation of
the DPPA. Section 2724(a) states that one who "obtains,

di scl oses or uses personal information" for an inpermssible
pur pose violates the DPPA. The disjunctive "or" makes clear that

each action stands alone as a viol ation. See Parus v. Cator, No.

05- 0063, 2005 W. 2240955, at *4 (WD. Ws. Sept. 14, 2005)
("[Section 2724(a)] uses the disjunctive "or' to connect the
ternms 'obtains,' 'discloses' and 'uses.' Therefore, each term
must be given a separate neaning.").

However, mnmultiple violations with respect to a single
plaintiff do not autonmatically entitle that plaintiff to a

separate statutory damages award for each violation. The DPPA

9



does not specify how statutory damages should be calculated with
respect to each plaintiff. W nay have the discretion to stack
the statutory damages awards as plaintiffs request, but whether
we should do so is quite another nmatter

The record shows that UNITE s violations, with respect
to the naned plaintiffs, consist of the union's obtaining each

plaintiff's name and address, visiting nost of them and then

sendi ng sone of themmail. See Pichler v. UNITE, 2006 W
2529688, at *4-5 & n.26, *11. There is no evidence that UNITE
ever shared the named plaintiffs' personal information with
anyone outside of the union, nor is there evidence that it
contacted these plaintiffs for any purpose other than its Ci ntas
or gani zi ng canpai gn

Thus, UNITE is the typical defendant in a DPPA civil
action: it obtained people's nanes and addresses so that it
could use that information to contact them |Indeed, it would
meke little sense to nerely collect nanmes and addresses with no
intention of using themin sone way. Congress surely understood
t hat the usual case would involve at |east one instance of
"obtain[ing]" and one "use[]," and it decided that a plaintiff
who did not or could not show actual damages coul d nevert hel ess
receive $2,500. Therefore, we do not think it would be
appropriate here to effectively double the statutory m ni num by

addi ng $2,500 for each violation as to a single plaintiff.?®

® To be sure, sonme cases may merit nultiple statutory awards
per plaintiff. For instance, nultiple awards m ght be proper if

10



On this record, we think a proper exercise of our
Congr essi onal | y-aut hori zed discretion is to award $2,500 in

statutory damages to each naned plaintiff.’

B. Puni ti ve Damages

Plaintiffs contend that a jury trial on punitive
damages is required. The DPPA does not provide for a jury trial
on this (or, for that matter, any) issue. |In fact, it expressly

sets forth that "[t]he court may award . . . punitive damages."

18 U.S.C. 8§ 2724(b)(2) (enphasis added).

Plaintiffs cite our Order of August 1, 2005, wherein we
explained that a plaintiff seeking punitive damages nust prove
that "(1) a defendant willfully or recklessly obtained,

di scl osed, or used personal information from her notor vehicle
records; and (2) the purpose of such obtaining, disclosure, or
use was not perm ssible under the DPPA." Order of Aug. 1, 2005 1
k. W found that both |legal and equitable relief depended on

resol ving whether UNITE s purpose in obtaining, disclosure, or

a DPPA vi ol ator had bonbarded a person with weekly visits and
mai | i ngs for nonths on end, despite that person's expressed
desire that the contacts cease. However, the record here sinply
does not suggest that UNI TE descended to such a gross disregard
for the nanmed plaintiffs' privacy.

"1t is undisputed that UNITE retrieved each named
plaintiff's information froma |icense plate search, so each
plaintiff suffered at | east one DPPA violation. Because we
choose not to award plaintiffs $2,500 for each subsequent
viol ation, we need not address UNI TE s qui bbl es about fact ual
di sputes, such as whether the naned plaintiffs were all visited
by UNI TE, as opposed to representatives of the International
Br ot her hood of Teansters, a former defendant here.

11



use was not perm ssible under the DPPA -- the second el enment of
the punitive damages claim-- and therefore held that the Seventh
Amendnent required a jury to determ ne that "comon issue.” [d.
at f m W did not hold that a jury had to resolve the first
el ement of the punitive damages claim W also noted we coul d
enter summary judgnent if uncontroverted evi dence established
that, as a matter of |aw, defendants acted for a perm ssible or
i nperm ssible purpose. [d. at 4 n.4. On summary judgnent, we
i ndeed found that such evidence in fact established that UNI TE
vi ol ated the DPPA. Having resolved the "commopn issue" as a
matter of |aw, we nust now decide, pursuant to 18 U S.C. §
2724(b) (2), whether punitive danages are warrant ed.

The DPPA plainly gives us the discretion to award or to
deny punitive danmages, even if UNITE viol ated the DPPA and did so
willfully and recklessly. See Pichler v. UNITE, 228 F.R D. at

259. W nust craft an appropriate award bearing in mnd the

pur poses of the statute and the rel evant jurisprudence on
punitive danmages. In particular, we are mndful of the Suprene
Court's adnmonition that "[i]t should be presuned that a plaintiff
has been made whol e by conpensat ory damages, so punitive damages
shoul d be awarded only if the defendant's culpability is so
reprehensible to warrant the inposition of further sanctions to

achi eve puni shnent or deterrence." State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins.

Co. v. Canpbell, 538 U S. 408, 409 (2003) (enphasis added).

Plaintiffs contend that UNITE's willful and reckl ess

behavi or warrants punitive damages, particularly because it had

12



notice that its license plate retrieval activities possibly
violated federal law, but it continued to use that tactic.

| ndeed, in 2000 UNI TE was sued under the DPPA in Tarkington v.

Hanson, Docket No. 4-00-CV-00525 JMM (E.D. Ark. Aug. 25, 2000),
and it settled that case. See Pichler v. Unite, 2006 W. 2529688,

at *6-7 (describing the Tarkington litigation). Yet even after

Tarkington, and after plaintiffs filed this lawsuit, UN TE

continued using license plate searches in sone canpai gns, see id.
at *4, though there is no evidence that it did so for the Cintas
canpai gn after June of 2004.

UNI TE has argued throughout this litigation that its
decades-ol d practice of license plate retrieval is permssible
and that its activities fall within the DPPA's exceptions. UNTE
al so points out that after nmany nonths of discovery and thousands
of docunents, there is no evidence that it used people's personal
information for anything other than matters directly connected to
its union organi zi ng canpai gn.

Not ably, on April 26, 2006, before we held that UNITE s
activities violated the DPPA, the UNI TE Legal Depart nent
distributed a nenorandumto its officers, staff, and affiliates
that instructed canpaigners as to what they may and may not do to
obtain informati on for organi zing and ot her canpai gns. See
UNI TE's Supp. Mem of Law ("UNITE s Supp."), Garren Decl. COct. 3,

2006,% Ex. A. The first directive in that nmenorandum st ates:

8 Brent Garren is UNITE' s Seni or Associate General Counsel
UNI TE's Supp., Garren Decl. { 1.
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"Do not use license plate nunbers to obtain any information from
Department of Mdtor Vehicles records, including nanmes and
addresses. This policy applies in all states and provinces in
the United States and Canada." |d.

We find that this clear instruction, plus the certainty
that further license plate retrievals will result in costly
damages awards, wll effectively deter UNITE from further
violations of the DPPA. ° Thus, we achieve deterrence without
i Nposi ng punitive damages.

As to punishnent, while we now deci de punitive damages
only with respect to the naned plaintiffs, we cannot ignore the
consequences of the class issues. Assumng for the nonent that
plaintiffs prevail on appeal, UNITE will surely have to pay a
very large class award. Wth a class estimted (by plaintiffs)
to include between 1,758 and 2, 005 peopl e, assuming $2,500 in
statutory damages per person, UNITE will have to pay between
$4, 395, 000 and $5,012,500 in statutory danages al one. Moreover,
plaintiffs will be entitled to "reasonabl e attorneys' fees and
other litigation costs reasonably incurred.”" 18 U. S.C. 8§
2724(b)(3). After nore than two years of intensive litigation in
a case involving many issues of first inpression, plus extensive
cl ass discovery, we confidently predict that the attorneys' fees

and costs will be considerable. Thus, UNITE will be anply

° O course, if UNITE reverted to using this inpernissible
tactic, that would justify revisiting our punitive damages
cal cul us.
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puni shed by the nulti-mllion-dollar award it will owe plaintiffs
and the class if they prevail on appeal.

In sum Congress's goal of protecting individuals'
privacy is readily acconplished here by the inposition of
statutory damages, the injunctive relief described below and the
reasonabl e attorneys' fees and costs that will be awarded to
plaintiffs if they ultimately prevail. Punitive danmages woul d
not further advance the DPPA's purposes and are unnecessary to
deter or punish UNITE. W shall therefore deny plaintiffs

request for punitive damages.

C. | njunctive Relief

Plaintiffs seek an injunction that would: (1) prevent
UNI TE from "obt ai ni ng, disclosing, or using personal information
obtai ned from notor vehicle records for purposes of union
organi zing or for any other purpose not permtted by 18 U. S.C. 8§
2721(b)," and (2) "order[] UNITE to permanently expunge fromits
records all information with respect to these naned Plaintiffs,
and to certify under oath that it has done so." Pls.' Supp. Mem
of Law 17. UNTE contends that the Norris LaGuardia Act, 29

U.S.C. § 104, ™ bars an injunction that woul d prevent the union

' The Norris LaGuardia Act provides that:

No court of the United States shall have jurisdiction to

i ssue any restraining order or tenporary or pernmanent
injunction in any case involving or grow ng out of any | abor
di spute to prohibit any person or persons participating or
interested in such dispute (as these terns are herein

defi ned) from doi ng, whether singly or in concert, any of
the follow ng acts:

15



from contacting C ntas enpl oyees who are nenbers of the class in
connection with UNI TE' s organi zi ng canpai gn at C nt as.
Nevert hel ess, UNI TE seens to concede that the Norris LaGuardi a
Act woul d not bar all types of injunctive relief: "UNTE .
submts that any injunction entered nust be carefully tailored to
avoid interference with a union's right to organi ze the enpl oyees
of Cintas.” UNITE's Mem 24. 1In any event, UN TE contends that

an injunction would be inequitable here because of the DPPA' s

harsh statutory |iqui dated danmages.

(a) Ceasing or refusing to performany work or to remain in
any relation of enploynent;

(b) Becom ng or renmining a nmenber of any | abor organization
or of any enpl oyer organi zation, regardl ess of any such
undertaking or promse as is described in section 103 of
this title;

(c) Paying or giving to, or withholding from any person
participating or interested in such | abor dispute, any
stri ke or unenpl oynent benefits or insurance, or other
noneys or things of val ue;

(d) By all lawful neans aiding any person participating or
interested in any | abor dispute who is being proceeded
against in, or is prosecuting, any action or suit in any
court of the United States or of any State;

(e) Gving publicity to the existence of, or the facts

i nvolved in, any |abor dispute, whether by adverti sing,
speaki ng, patrolling, or by any other nethod not involving
fraud or violence;

(f) Assenbling peaceably to act or to organize to act in
pronotion of their interests in a | abor dispute;

(g) Advising or notifying any person of an intention to do
any of the acts heretofore specified,;

(h) Agreeing with other persons to do or not to do any of
the acts heretofore specified; and

(i) Advising, urging, or otherw se causing or inducing

W t hout fraud or violence the acts heretofore specified,
regardl ess of any such undertaking or promse as is
described in section 103 of this title.

29 U.S. C. § 104.
16



As we have already found, this case is not about unfair

| abor practices, see Pichler v. UNITE, 339 F. Supp. 2d 665, 668-

69 (E.D. Pa. 2004), nor is it a "labor dispute” within the

! This is a case about a

meani ng of the Norris LaGuardia Act.’
union violating individuals' federally-protected interest in the
confidentially of personal information. To be sure, UN TE enjoys
the protections of the Norris LaGuardia Act, but those rights are
not endangered here. W shall craft an injunction that is
faithful to the DPPA s purposes, protects the naned plaintiffs
fromfurther violations, and safeguards UNITE s right to continue
prosecuting its C ntas organi zi ng canpai gn.

To that end, we shall enjoin UNITE from using the naned

plaintiffs' personal information that was obtained in violation

of the DPPA. ' |f UNITE can establish that it obtained those

' The Norris LaGuardia Act defines "labor dispute" to
i nclude "any controversy concerning terns or conditions of
enpl oynent, or concerning the association or representation of
persons in negotiating, fixing, maintaining, changing, or seeking
to arrange terns or conditions of enploynent, regardl ess of
whet her or not the disputants stand in the proximate relation of
enpl oyer and enployee.” 29 U S.C. 8§ 113(c).

2 Qur decision today does not resolve any potential class-
wi de relief issues. However, we note that UN TE argues t hat
destruction of all class nmenbers' information would interfere
Wi th organi zing efforts and be based on the fal se assunption that
UNI TE had obtained all class nenbers' nanmes and addresses through
taggi ng. Indeed, we know such an assunption woul d be w ong
because the parties have already stipulated that UNI TE devel oped
contact lists of presuned Ci ntas workers using nmany sources. See
Jt. Stip. 1 29. These are matters we will revisit in the future.

Until then, we caution UNITE to think carefully about using
any nanmes and addresses obtained solely through activities that
we have held violate the DPPA. Should it decide to do so,
evi dence of such use would be highly relevant in determning
appropriate class-wide relief, including damages cal cul ati ons and

17



plaintiffs' nanmes and addresses through other |egitinmate neans,
this injunction will not bar the union fromusing that
information in its organi zing canpaign. W stress that UN TE has
the burden of proving that it |awfully obtained the naned

plaintiffs' personal infornmation.

[11. Concl usion

For the reasons we di scuss above, we shall grant in
part plaintiffs' notion to anmend the Judgnent. W shall grant
Thomas Riley and Any Riley each a separate statutory damages
award of $2,500, and we shall inpose an injunction that prohibits
UNI TE from usi ng any personal information of the nanmed plaintiffs
that it obtained in violation of the DPPA. W shall also specify
that plaintiffs shall file attorneys' fees and costs, if they
prevail, after exhaustion of appeals.

An appropriate Order and anended Judgnent foll ow.

BY THE COURT:

/sl Stewart Dal zell, J.

i njunctions.
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IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

ELI ZABETH PI CHLER, et al. ) G VIL ACTI ON
V. :

UNI TE (UNI ON OF NEEDLETRADES,

| NDUSTRI AL & TEXTI LE EMPLOYEES

AFL-CI O, et al. ) NO. 04-2841

AMENDED JUDGVENT

AND NOW this 17th day of Cctober, 2006, in accordance
with the Court's decision this day, JUDGVENT | S ENTERED as
foll ows:

1. In favor of defendant Bruce Raynor and agai nst
plaintiffs;

2. In favor of plaintiff Elizabeth Pichler and
agai nst defendant UNITE HERE in the amount of $2,500. 00;

3. In favor of plaintiff Russell Christian and
agai nst defendant UNITE HERE in the amount of $2,500. 00;

4. In favor of plaintiff Seth Nye and agai nst
def endant UNI TE HERE in the anmpbunt of $2,500. 00;

5. In favor of plaintiff Holly Marston and agai nst
def endant UNI TE HERE in the anmount of $2,500. 00;

6. In favor of plaintiff Kevin Quinn and agai nst



def endant UNI TE HERE i n the anount of $2,500.00;

7. In favor of plaintiff Jose L. Sabastro and agai nst
def endant UNI TE HERE i n the anount of $2,500.00;

8. In favor of plaintiff Thonas R | ey and agai nst
def endant UNI TE HERE i n the anount of $2,500.00;

9. In favor of plaintiff Any R | ey and agai nst
def endant UNI TE HERE i n the anount of $2,500.00;

10. In favor of plaintiff Russell Daubert and agai nst
def endant UNI TE HERE i n the anount of $2,500.00;

11. UNITE HERE and its officers, enployees and agents
are hereby permanently ENJO NED from using or disclosing any
personal information of the nanmed plaintiffs that UNI TE HERE
obtained in violated of the Drivers Privacy Protection Act; and

12. Costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, shall

be taxed after exhaustion of appeals.

BY THE COURT:

/sl Stewart Dal zell, J.
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I N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

ELI ZABETH PI CHLER, et al. ) ClVIL ACTI ON
V. :
UNI TE (UNI ON OF NEEDLETRADES,
| NDUSTRI AL & TEXTI LE EMPLOYEES :
AFL-CI O, et al. ) NO. 04-2841
ORDER

AND NOW this 17th day of COctober, 2006, in accordance
W th the acconpanying Menorandum it is hereby ORDERED that:

1. Plaintiffs' notion is GRANTED I N PART and DEN ED
I N PART as described in the acconpanyi ng Menorandum and as set
forth in the Anmended Judgment entered this day; ** and

2. The C erk shall ENTER judgnment in accordance with

t he acconpanyi ng anmended Judgnent.

BY THE COURT:

3 Neither this Order nor the anended Judgment affect our
express determ nation, pursuant to Fed. R Cv. P. 54(b), "that
there is no just reason for delay of the entry of judgnent as to
the naned plaintiffs.” Oder of Aug. 30, 2006 Y 6.



[s/ Stewart Dal zell,

J.
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